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Fade In



I CAN BARELY BREATHE.


My chest is clenched like an angry fist. Small gasps of air only. Last gasps, I’m certain. The exam room spirals. My hold on reality waning—Will my children know where to find the will?—I reach for a pallid wall to steady myself as the doctor sullenly reenters the room. Test results in his hands, he may as well be carrying a scythe or a guillotine.


“I’m not surprised,” the doctor confirms.


I knew it! The big one. I probably have an hour, tops. I focus on the stark walls again softened only by a few framed diplomas and medical charts. My own story soon to be told only as a cold statistic on that same wall the color of a sun-bleached skull. I calculate who, if anyone, will visit me before my Shakespearean “mortal coil is shuffled.”


My wife of twenty-five years has recently left me. My kids have chosen sides, and somehow, I’ve become the bad guy. Bonanza and Animal House and The West Wing are all now ancient history, like I’m about to be. My last feature movie role was as “Eli’s Dad #2.”


And the two TV networks I’m currently working for are suing me.


No wonder it’s the end…


“Is there anything we can do now, doctor?” I ask terrified.


“Nothing much really,” he confirms.


Dear God. “I can’t believe it.” I’m gripping my heart. (Or where I thought it was.) “So, now what? I just wait while my heart stops working or—”


“No,” he says. “This…” He indicates me. “Your heart’s fine, I’d say. It’s just nerves or maybe even a little panic attack.”


Huh…? I cock my head like a dog watching Chris Farley get out of a bathtub.


“If this were a heart attack…” He waves the test printouts at me. “You’d know it, pal. This is more like heart burn. Indigestion.”


With the unmistakable crunch of crisp, disposable paper, I collapse back onto the examination table.


“Some good old Pepto-Bismol will probably do the trick,” the doctor says. “And relax more. You do seem a little stressed. Just take it easy for a while, okay?”


“Sure, sure.” I fumble out the words.


“What is it that you do for a living, Mr. Matheson?” he asks.


And then I laugh.















Third Kid Through the Door



A TYPICAL LEAVE IT TO BEAVER SCRIPT:




INT. BEAVER’S HOUSE—DAY







After school, BEAVER and his two pals enter his front door into a perfect living room. The fresh scent of domesticity and oatmeal cookies pervades the Cleaver household. No one is drunk on stingers.







BEAVER CLEAVER


Boy, Mrs. Obreza was sure weird in class today. She asked me to name two pronouns.







LARRY, BEAVER’S FRIEND


I never know what she’s talking about. What’d you do, Beave?







BEAVER CLEAVER


Nothin’. I just said, “Who, me?” And she gave me a gold star anyways.







BEAVER’S OTHER FRIEND


That is weird.





Beaver, the star, was always the first guy through the door, then Larry, his best pal. Then Beave’s other friend—if needed for a scene and rarely at that—pushed through behind them.


That was me. The third kid. And the next seven decades of a career in show business probably came from the saving grace that I wasn’t ever number one or a child star or a teen star. I was merely a guy daydreaming about a future with Hayley Mills—the spunky, cute, lead of 1961’s The Parent Trap. The girl whose face was now on billboards all over Hollywood. Now, she was a star!


Others included guys like Jerry Mathers (Leave It to Beaver) and Jay North (Dennis the Menace), and Billy Mumy (Lost in Space). They were on lunch boxes and talk shows, and people were futzing with them 24-7, all before they hit puberty.


Jay North was an enormous star actually, a king of kings in our circle, making $3,500 (the equivalent of nearly $40,000 today) an episode. At eleven, he was on the cover of TV Guide. But at twelve, he was back again sitting in an audition chair across from me and a bunch of other Joes for a guest role in a single episode. And he looked absolutely miserable. Worse, directors and producers had settled on what kind of roles he would be getting. He’d been typecast, the dreaded trap when an actor becomes too strongly identified with a specific character.


Meanwhile, I was still a walk-on actor with a couple of lines who could sit back in the shadows and slowly learn a craft. For years.


I had only one rule I would try to live by: Don’t make the same mistake twice. Simple enough. All I had to do was watch what the professionals were doing and try to copy that.


And in my world, the first kid through the door was a professional.


Jerry Mathers (“Beaver”) had his own TV show. He had his face on a board game called Leave It to Beaver: Rocket to the Moon Space Game (“Thrills with Beaver on a race to the moon”). He had pool parties. To me, he was Laurence Olivier and Richard Burbage and Charlie Chaplin all rolled into one.


Jerry Mathers invited me to one of the pool parties at his home, the preteen Hollywood version of the Playboy Mansion. Everyone wanted to be invited, and only the cool kids got in. The adults had the grotto; the Beaver had pool floats. The adults had coke; the Beaver had Coca-Cola and unlimited ice cream. They had starlets and boobs; well, the Beaver had magicians who could make coins vanish.


Clearly, I’d arrived.


Handing my towel to the nearest mom, I began searching for Hayley Mills.
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I WAS BORN ON NEW YEAR’S EVE 1947 TO SARAH (SALLY) AND CLIFF Matthieson, joining my sister Sue in what was never a traditionally happy household. The Great Depression and alcoholism were the other two members of our family.


My parents had been affected in completely opposite ways growing up during the Depression. My dad was convinced the next collapse was always right around the corner: “What’s the point? You can’t fight City Hall!” kind of mindset. Mom, however, was ready to take all comers head-on. Always building for the future. So, without telling Dad, she’d bought our first house. (She had a good job then, and good credit, and so she took out a loan, paying less for the mortgage than the rent would have been.) Dad would never have allowed or understood this kind of optimistic thinking. This difference was a simple anecdote for how these two would never last.


When my parents first began their life together in Los Angeles, Dad would always say L.A. was paradise—orange groves, walnut groves, and pristine mountains and beaches as far as the eye could see. He was a pilot and flight instructor with Lockheed, and Mom worked for Bell Telephone. But after the war, when returning GIs also found out how great it was here, the farmland was soon stripped away for housing, and the city was transformed from a sleepy little place where they made movies into an ever-expanding suburb for the booming postwar economy.


Here, every day seemed to bring new arguments, new tears. I never had any idea what tomorrow would bring for me or my family.


So I, like many, escaped to movies and TV shows. I loved TV. Dragnet. The Lone Ranger. I Love Lucy. Alfred Hitchcock Presents. Beany and Cecil, the Seasick Sea Serpent. And my favorites: Adventure serials and the newest kids’ movies at the Saturday Matinees. In our house was this enormous mahogany entertainment cabinet with a black-and-white television on one side and a turntable system on the other for my parents’ collection of 78 RPM records. (Remember those…)


In 1952, when the TV broke, you didn’t just go buy a new one. (Heck, it took three people to lift it.) Back then, an appliance guy came to your home and took the TV tubes and all the guts back to his shop. Now our home had just a half-empty cabinet and the frame of a television set.


For two weeks, I’d crawl into the back of the emptied TV cabinet and play like I was on TV. I could sneak up on the gold bandits beside Tonto in The Lone Ranger, push the rattler aside, and then shout “Hi-yo, Silver! Away!” with the best of them. My older sister was not amused, but these were two of the “funnest” weeks I’d ever had. And I needed more fun.


My parents were fighting more. Lots of name-calling and doors slamming.


Then, somewhat thankfully but still a surprise, they separated.


Dad was gone.


LONG BEFORE THE IPAD, THE TELEVISION PROVED TO BE MY TRUSTY babysitter when Mom would head off to work or when I had to visit Dad for the weekend and he was at his new job all day. My sister and I were latchkey kids decades before the term became popular.


And the summer before first grade was filled with watching a local Los Angeles program called Sheriff John’s Lunch Brigade. John Rovick played Sheriff John. He’d show cartoons and talk to the kids and he dressed like a sheriff—what else did a first-grade boy need? Then it got better: Sheriff John was “Coming to a Supermarket Near Me.”


“We gotta go!” I begged my mom. “Can we?! Can we?! We gotta go say hi. We gotta!” God bless her, we went down and stood in a pretty long line. And then I finally stood before him. My whole body was shaking.


Sheriff John stretched his hand out to shake mine. “Hello, son,” he says.


“Hello, son??”


Right then and there, I finally realized, He doesn’t know me. This guy doesn’t know my name and has clearly never seen me before. I could tell he was looking at a total stranger. Oh my God! When watching TV, he can’t see me. I can only see him. It was the first time I recognized what television was, and I was a little hurt. Some of the magic was lost forever. But I was still there in front of the TV set, laid out on the shag carpet, tuned in every day.


But other concerns were coming.
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IN 1954, MY PARENTS FINALLY ENDED THEIR MARRIAGE.


They never did get divorced, however, as a divorce cost too much in those days. My dad simply left for good, and my mom, older sister, and I moved to Sherman Oaks, California, to a one-bedroom apartment, Mom claiming the couch every night so that Sue and I could share the bedroom.


Dad, meanwhile, opened an upholstery business in Laguna Beach (about an hour away), which soon closed. Then he was off to Yuma, Arizona, to manage a sports arena and drive-through liquor store. I saw him sporadically as most children of divorce did then and many still do now. And the years trickled by.


My mom was older than most of the other moms (she’d been 36 when she had my sister and 37 when she had me; Sue and I were barely thirteen months apart). And after bouncing from secretarial job to secretarial job, she had finally figured out a truth: Nobody wanted a 45-plus-year-old secretary.


Mom drank more; her new boyfriends also drank.


Meanwhile, in the La Reina Movie Theater, I took in another viewing of Witness for the Prosecution. I am now nine and have already seen the movie three times. Charles Laughton—Quasimodo, Captain Bligh, Rembrandt, and now as a lawyer named Sir Wilfrid Robarts—fills the screen again. I scoop another handful of popcorn as the film’s light enfolds me. Here, Charles Laughton awakens in me a yearning and a dream: I want to be like him. I want to do what he’s doing.


Not to be a lawyer. Or even, yet, a director or an actor. I want to escape this world and live inside a fantasy world.


A world with happy endings.


A world that stays exactly the same with every viewing.


BY THE FIFTH GRADE, I WAS CONSUMED BY THE UNFAIRNESS OF IT all: visiting Dad here and there, Mom never being home. I truly hoped and believed they’d get back together. But as each day went by that they didn’t, the rage inside me grew.


I was sent home from school after a kickball game when a kid on my team, whose name I don’t remember, missed the ball and I lost control. I screamed at him, and I probably hit him. He had a happy family, because I assumed everybody else did, and I was angry that I didn’t. I was losing friends and alienating people. And I couldn’t control my anger. I didn’t even know where to begin. It was horrible.


Then, from a certain point of view, a miracle.


Now fifty, my mom had just gotten laid off again. The terms ageism and sexism hadn’t entered the discourse yet, but Mom’s latest executive secretary position had evaporated so that someone younger and prettier could take the job. No matter how hard she tried, now she couldn’t find work. And she just couldn’t handle it anymore. She started drinking more, if that was possible. As much as I liked her new boyfriend Dick Weevil, who sold Studebakers, everything they did was about having a good time. We called them “Valley drunks” back then.


This Valley drunk, my mother, decided she needed a break and asked her sister in San Bernardino, California, for a favor. The answer was yes.


My sister and I were both shipped east.


AUNT ESTELLE AND HER HUSBAND JOE MARTIN WERE LIKE ONE OF those families I watched on TV. Straight out of Father Knows Best or The Adventures of Ozzie and Harriet. They were the Cleavers before we knew what that meant. They had a grown son named Harlan who still lived at home and who everyone called Curly because he was already bald in his twenties. Curly and Uncle Joe would come home for lunch where my aunt cooked three meals a day (Aunt Estelle was a great chef who created incredible pastries and cakes and other desserts). She was a flesh-and-blood 1950s TV mom, and our stint with her was the only time I had a normal home life.


Baking skills notwithstanding, my sister and I still gave hell to my aunt and uncle, because life in San Bernardino was so different from being a latchkey kid in Los Angeles. In L.A., I did whatever I wanted; I came and went as I pleased—there was no adult supervision. Here, we couldn’t have sleepovers, nobody could ever come over to play, and we could rarely go over to anybody’s house. And if we weren’t where we were supposed to be, we got a severe earful.


An adjustment to say the least, but it also gave me the chance to start over. I resolved to change, to re-create, refind myself, and to leave all that anger behind in Los Angeles. It was such a relief.


One of my favorite Friday night adventures was going to the local hospital just up the street with the local kids. The hospital had a multifloor circular metal slide outside the rear of the building for immobile patients from the upper floors to slide down to safety in case of a fire. I don’t know if this slide ever saved anyone from a fire—but it saved us from boring Friday nights! We would stealthily sneak up the slide, past various nurses’ windows, to the top floor. There, we’d hand out wax paper to sit on so we could slide faster than lightning. We all had to go at the same time, because if the nurses heard us, they’d throw buckets of water down the slide trying to soak us. Sometimes we’d get two or three rides in before they’d yell for us to get away and stop. If we dared try one more run, we’d have to explain why we were soaked when we came home.


Everything in our new “home” wasn’t as fun.


Part of Aunt Estelle and Uncle Joe’s requirements was that Sue and I attend Sunday school at their church. It just so happened they were putting on a talent show and—since most of the other kids were already in a band together—the Sunday school teacher asked me to be the conductor for the band. He asked my aunt and uncle if I could stay for the rehearsal after church and told them he’d drop me off at home after.


This was a time when kids, and adults, trusted adults more. In 1950s San Bernardino, if an adult told you to do something, you did it—why wouldn’t you? But this guy seemed a bit weird from the start. First, he was standing—in retrospect—way too close and kept grabbing my arm that held the baton. Moving my arm to show me what to do while I kept telling him, “I’ve got this, it’s okay,” and did a passable job leading this motley band of kid musicians.


Driving me back home, this Sunday school teacher asked if my dad ever let me sit in his lap and “drive” the car. Odd question, it seemed to me, but I said, “Yeah, sure…”


“Well, I’ll let you drive too. Just jump on my lap and grab the wheel.”


Given the chance to drive a car, I went along and slowly moved over behind the wheel. An easy target I must have seemed, so many miles from my real home or parents. I sat on this guy’s lap for all of about thirty seconds. “I don’t want to drive anymore,” I said and slid back across the front seat all the way until I was up against the passenger door.


“Why you sitting so far away?” he asked.


“I like looking back out the side rearview mirror,” I lied. “And watching cars behind us.” I couldn’t wait to get home; I’d never felt so uncomfortable and confused around any adult in my whole life. Everything about this man and situation felt wrong, ugly, and uncomfortable.


When we got to Joe and Estelle’s house, I jumped out and sprinted inside, relieved to get away. Once I was safely inside, my aunt and uncle asked about the talent rehearsal and I just told them I didn’t like it and didn’t want to be in it. Disappointed as they were, they were also fine with my decision.


That same night, I talked with my sister as we lay in our bunkbeds about this creepy guy and everything that had happened. She listened carefully before we fell asleep.


A couple of days later, Joe and Estelle went out for an evening event at the church. Not more than three minutes after they drove off, there was a knock at the door. This was extra scary since we were home alone and no one ever came over to the house in the evenings.


I peeked out the curtain and saw the Sunday school teacher, who must have been lurking and watching for them to leave. “No, no!” I turned to my sister and shook my head. “I don’t want to see him. Don’t let him in!”


Sue came to the door. “Who is it?” she asked, and he gave his name and asked if I was home. “I just want to talk with Tim,” he said. I kept shaking my head no. He knocked again and again.


Then my sister did something… remarkable. She said, “Just a minute,” and turned and went straight for Joe and Estelle’s bedroom. Sue returned seconds later with Joe’s bedside pistol, which he kept in a nightstand drawer—this was long before responsible people locked up their guns when kids were around.


Sue held the pistol down at her side as she approached the door. This man was still knocking and asking to see me as she carefully lifted the pistol chest high, pointed it at the door, and slowly opened the door as far as the chain would allow. All this guy could see was my thirteen-year-old sister and a big gun in her hand pointed in his direction, finger on the trigger.


“Go away,” she said in a voice so calm I can still hear it. “Leave us alone. Don’t ever come back!”


As Sue evenly closed the door, all I heard next was a quick patter of feet, a car door slam, and the screech of tires as he fled. My sister had already locked the door again and returned the gun to the bedside drawer. She came back to the living room and we both stared at each other in wonder.


We never did go back to Sunday school. When I shared this memory as an adult with Sue, she remembered it clearly and always thought that I just didn’t want to ever talk about it again. We both regretted that we never had the courage to tell Aunt Estelle and Uncle Joe what had happened. I wished we had.


During all my later years as a kid in Hollywood, not one person in the film business ever made advances toward me as this Sunday school teacher had. I know others have been mistreated, but for some reason, I was lucky enough to never have it happen to me.


Meanwhile, Elizabeth Bradley Elementary School in San Bernardino, in all the best ways, changed my life. The school had a weekly little morning play, a kid’s Today Show with invented commercials and everything. I was intolerably shy, but if you gave me a character to play, I could shine. I didn’t want to be Tim Matthieson. That guy was angry, short, and hardly ever talked. Bradley Elementary gave me the chance to be “Gus, the farm boy,” or “Walter, the guy who just saw a ghost.” Hiding behind these characters gave me the freedom to try on behaviors. All of a sudden, I’d become fairly popular. One of the prettiest girls in the school, Linda Butterfield, said that I made her laugh. Oh yeah, I thought, this is working great. I like the new, old, me.


Not surprisingly, I now began dreaming of a life in show business.
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AFTER I FINISHED SIXTH GRADE, MOM PULLED HERSELF FREE from wherever she’d gone and finally called us back home to Burbank. I said goodbye to all my new friends, and we began again, in a small one-room apartment with two sofas that moonlighted as beds.


I watched TV even more incessantly now. Without Aunt Estelle watching me like a Betty Crocker hawk, I’d cut school to stay home to take in the old classic movies on Channel 9. And I went to the movie theater whenever I could. I’d even started to believe that I could make some money if I somehow got into that world. Beyond the escape it would provide, I could afford to help my mom. With money, I could get us another one-room apartment and then there’d be enough space for us all to have our own room. (This renting logic made perfect sense to eleven-year-old me.)


And so actors—in addition to Sandy Koufax and John F. Kennedy and Neil Armstrong—became my heroes. Of course, Charles Laughton (The Hunchback of Notre Dame and Witness for the Prosecution) but now also Richard Boone (Have Gun—Will Travel), Steve McQueen (Wanted Dead or Alive), James Garner (Maverick), and Humphrey Bogart, Cary Grant, Katharine Hepburn, Jimmy Stewart, and Bette Davis. Reruns of The Honeymooners and The Jackie Gleason Show from Miami, with the June Taylor Dancers, Joe the Bartender, Reginald Van Gleason III, Rum Dum, and Fenwick Babbitt. I spent hours at the movies and always stayed to watch the credits, learning and fascinated that it took many more people to make a movie than just the actors on the screen and understanding that each movie or TV show was its own family.


I’d also started reading all the autobiographies of random classic actors and directors I could find—guys like Laurence Olivier or George Arliss, the first British actor to win an Oscar. My pals were reading Justice League of America and Tales from the Crypt and Mad magazine as I worked through Up the Years from Bloomsbury to fully appreciate Arliss’s earlier Broadway experiences. (How did he do it? Should I go into theatre?)


I’d become enraptured with Hollywood. Convenient, then, that some of the back lots were only a short bike ride away. Disney, Paramount, Universal, Warner Bros., RKO. I would climb a fence or slip through a broken plank and wander the back lots pretending to be Zorro or cowboy Bret Maverick until it got too late or security chased me away.


“I want to be an actor,” I finally confessed to my mom.


“Fine,” she said as if I’d asked to be a Boy Scout or play Little League. (To her, it was just a hobby of mine well into my twenties.) “If you ever change your mind,” she said, “you can always do something else.”


WITH DAD GONE, MONEY WAS ALWAYS TIGHT FOR THE THREE remaining Matthiesons. Mom worked two full-time jobs again, doing her best to climb out of the financial hole she’d dug during her “lost year.”


She’d since taken the civil service exam and got the top score in her class—an achievement that led to a coveted job as a dispatcher for the Los Angeles Police Department. She was also working as a bookkeeper for some construction company. Every week, she’d trade away her LAPD day hours to coworkers to take on the night shift. This way, she’d go into the construction company from 8:00 a.m. until 5:00 p.m. and then head to the dispatcher job from 7:00 p.m. until 3:00 a.m. She rode buses for hours. Four hours of sleep, and she’d do it all again. She worked eighty hours a week, enough to keep us afloat while she paid back the people she owed from her party phase. Her schedule must have been excruciating. She worked so hard and was always an inspiration.


Every time I didn’t get the job or do as well as I’d hoped throughout my life, I mirrored my mom. Bad performance in a play? Mom would have gotten back on stage the next day, and so did I. Marriage falls apart? Pick yourself back up. There’s no work for Cowboy Tim? Reinvent yourself and start auditioning again.


But as a kid, I still couldn’t get over the fact we were still so damn poor, stuck in a tiny apartment. The bare necessities were all we had.


My sister and I were the only children in the entire complex. Most of the residents were single guys who were full-blown alcoholics. One man proudly drank sixteen stingers in one day. I had no idea what that meant—eventually, I discovered it’s brandy and crème de menthe—but he knew this was his greatest accomplishment and I knew that I should live somewhere else.


We didn’t have a car like all my friends’ parents did—Mom was taking the damn bus between downtown L.A. and Burbank, two hours, every day.


I saw an ad in the newspaper that claimed “For $7 down and $7 a month,” you could buy a car. A used car, sure, but a car. Now in the seventh grade, I thought, Who can’t do that? Who doesn’t have $7? Hell, even I can get $7. So I convinced my mother to buy a used car. A 1957 Ford Fairlane. In Burbank, it seemed like all the kids around me had a mom and dad and lived in a house with cars and other nice things. Getting that hideous Fairlane felt like a step toward normalcy.


I grew more determined than ever to get into show business. Not from some great passion to play Hamlet or even to meet Hayley Mills. I really believed this might be the best path to what I saw as having the normal things that other people around me had.
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MOM TRIED TO HELP ME FIGURE ALL THIS OUT BUT WAS ALSO WORKING on about four hours’ sleep. I found this group called the Screen Children’s Guild, which posed as a way into show business but proved to be a total con. They’d send kids to the John E. Reed Photography Studios for actor headshots and pretend to be your agent. Mostly, this so-called guild was making money off the portraits; they certainly weren’t sending us out for auditions. They would put on some talent shows that you paid to be featured in, but the audience was entirely parents, and it proved a waste of time, energy, and worst of all, money. I’d researched enough to know that without an actual agent, this wasn’t going to work.


The construction company that my mother was doing bookkeeping for was developing a patch of Anaheim orange groves that would soon become Disneyland. As fate would have it, her boss had a son my age, and this kid had an agent and he’d just gone up for some parts. “Well,” I pressed. “Maybe ask your boss if they’ll set me up.” I already had these awful, corny pictures from John E. Reed Photography Studios I could use. She agreed to give it a shot.


The irony being that mom, our family, had gone through that horrible year and because of the way she came out, working two jobs, she’d found her son an honest-to-God agent.


NANCY BINDA, THE WOMAN WHO REPRESENTED THE BOSS’S KID, had only four other clients and worked solo out of her kitchen. But she took me on and represented me for the first several years of what would become my career. Now, I was going out on actual auditions for commercials and television parts.


While waiting to land my first paying job, I did a little theatre production of Auntie Mame in Burbank. It was only a couple of scenes, and I played Beauregard Jackson Pickett Burnside. This guy was funny and got all the laughs; he had nothing to do with Tim Matthieson. Pulling out a Southern accent felt natural because my mother was from Nashville, Tennessee, and my grandmother was from Richmond, Virginia. That Southern flavor was all around me, which I credit for the positive reviews I got in the local Burbank paper.


I also started to take more acting classes, and during a showcase (the right kind that I didn’t have to pay extra to be in), I was noticed by a casting agent who set up an audition for me for a starring role in a new CBS series called Window on Main Street. After numerous auditions, I wasn’t chosen for the lead but landed a walk-on part with a couple of lines. The program starred Robert Young (of Father Knows Best fame) as an author who moves back to his small hometown and falls in love with a young widow. This was my first role in front of the camera.


Weeks earlier, I’d had to climb a fence and sneak onto studios to run around the back lots. This time, I’d been invited to Desilu Studios—the place where they shot I Love Lucy and dozens of the other shows I watched religiously. They even sat me down and put makeup on me. I was on a real Hollywood set for the first time in my life, and I stumbled onto the soundstage like Dorothy first stepping out into Oz.


My brief scene was in a lavish hotel suite. I’d never seen such opulence, such beauty. I passed the enormous camera ready for the day’s shooting and explored the room. The set was amazing. Chandelier, grand marble fireplace, fancy rugs, antique chairs, the wallpaper, and the paintings. A beautiful world so different than anywhere I’d ever been, so different from the Burbank apartment where I lived with my mother and sister: one room, a kitchen with a little table, and a closet you had to walk through to get to the bathroom.


This, however, I thought to my twelve-year-old self, THIS is where I want to live. I had never been in a room so nice. And I found myself drawn to the stunning marble fireplace. I looked around to confirm no one was looking, certain I would get in trouble, and then carefully brought my hand up to touch it.


My hand jerked back.


It wasn’t marble. Not even close. It was paper, contact paper that looked like marble stuck to plywood underneath.


It finally hit me: My God, it’s all fake. Every movie or TV show I’ve ever seen. My old pal, Sheriff John, was just a glimpse of the great lie. This world I so desperately wanted to fall into and be part of is a fake world. The realization might have crushed other idealistic dreamers.


My immediate thought was, THAT’S FUCKING GREAT!


That fireplace seduced me. I got it now: It just has to look real for as long as it’s on screen. After or before that, it doesn’t matter. Anything else is the magic and illusion of special effects and props, acting, editing, crew, and camera placement. All these entertainment trickeries to make fake seem real.


It made perfect sense.


Real-world Tim slept on a pullout couch and first had to walk through a closet to brush his teeth. Fake-world Tim now had a cool marble fireplace.
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ON WINDOW ON MAIN STREET, I HAD MY ONE OR TWO LINES, AND I barely knew what I was doing. Everyone else worked like the parts of a Swiss watch: quiet, calm, and precise. Meanwhile, I just played those lines when the time came and tried to be as natural as I could—like a real kid. Other than being a ham, which had worked in the play I’d just done, I wasn’t sure what else to do. But my performance must have been okay, because they asked me to come back and do a two-day part the following week. My $100 for a day’s work had already become $200. And my good fortune was just getting started!


By midseason, Window on Main Street was struggling in the ratings. To help, they made some changes to the plot and expanded the cast, adding me as a featured kid in town. I was suddenly a regular, working all five days and making $400 a week and—


Hold on! This was incredible money for us, but I still knew math well enough to know I’d just been screwed somehow. They paid me $100 for one day, $200 for two days and $400 for five days. It’s five days! I don’t get it.


“That’s the guild,” I was told. “There’s a weekly rate and there’s a daily rate.”


“Well, maybe I should only work four days next time?” I offered hopefully.


A look of abject pity was the only response I got to my ingenuous idea.


The guild, from all I could tell, had just cost me $100.


The Screen Actors Guild also made me sign a “loyalty oath to the United States of America” to be admitted. I had to swear to never do anything treasonous; this was the McCarthy era, after all, and the oath was something Ronald Reagan had instituted when he’d been president of the guild. Even as a kid, I knew making a twelve-year-old sign a loyalty oath was wrong. I’d grown up in a very First Amendment family, and my grandmother, in particular, would have gone ballistic if I’d ever told her I’d signed it. I never did tell her.


Whatever. I’d have signed a murder confession. I had my $400 check ($4,000 today) and marched into the bank opposite Warner Bros. Studios. It was only another half mile to my house, and I soon had a giant wad of cash in my pocket to bring back home. In the bedroom, I closed the door, took out the cash, and just tossed it up in the air like they do in the movies. It fluttered down on top of me—not in the slow motion I’d hoped for, but the moment was still the happiest I’d ever been. Here was a way of helping. It was really all about getting out of that pit; I just thought, We deserve better than this. And I could make that happen. I started by taking Mom and Sue out to dinner.


But with my expanded role on the show, I was now called on to do more heavy lifting as a child actor: a scene I could not just clown my way through. On the same street set they had recently used for The Untouchables with Robert Stack and Walter Winchell, I was expected to cry in front of a hundred people on cue. I was expected to… act.


So I urgently needed to find that emotion. And I found one, accidentally, in the music from a popular musical currently capturing the zeitgeist.


In 1960, Camelot premiered on Broadway with Richard Burton, Julie Andrews, and Robert Goulet. The idea of Camelot was projected by Americans onto the Kennedys in the White House, and it seemed like everyone had the soundtrack album. Yet for me, the shattering of the dream of Camelot in the show reminded me of my own broken home. I listened to that album over and over again, especially the heartbreaking song Richard Burton sings at the end, when his love has been lost to another and his family ideal has been shattered. It brought tears to my eyes, every time. Rehearsing my scenes at home, I would have the record playing on my portable RCA player. And when I needed to cry, all I had to do was hum to myself, “Don’t let it be forgot / That once there was a spot / For one brief shining moment that was known / As Camelot.”


Still lacking any real training, I’d accidentally uncovered a technique taught in acting classes for decades, and it’s one I still use to this day.




Film School Boot Camp


An Actor Prepares…


Konstantin Stanislavski wrote An Actor Prepares in 1936. Stanislavsky was perhaps the first person to write about an actor’s technique. To do so, he went to the most successful and best actors working on stage at the time and asked each of them how they worked and what their methods were in approaching a role. The Stanislavski technique became the compilation and distillation of these lessons he took from these great actors. For nearly ninety years, An Actor Prepares has been the actors’ bible of how to act—for creating real, honest, and true character and performance. But while his book is the bible, an actor should study as many different techniques as they can. Find the ones that speak to your heart, but also mix it up! Study the many techniques developed by the masters of the craft—Stella Adler, Sanford Meisner, Michael Chekhov, Viola Spolin’s improv, classical theatre, Shakespeare, and Lee Strasberg to name a few. This is the lesson that I want to share with you: Never ignore your inner voice. Use what works best for you when creating a character.
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BACK ON MAIN STREET IN 1962, I WAS FILLED WITH EMOTION, thinking of Camelot and dredging up emotions from my own life. It proved a convincing performance; the adults were thrilled.


This is gonna start my career, I thought. I really am an actor.


Two weeks later, the show got canceled.
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STILL, THE JACK WORMSER AGENCY WANTED TO REPRESENT ME. IN the 1960s, leaving Nancy Binda and moving to Jack Wormser’s agency was like being called up from Single-A Ball to the Dodgers. They had a whole kids department run by a woman named Pat Domigan, who took me on.


Now I was going to lots of auditions. Lots.


And the hardest things for me were the auditions.


I’d soon come to realize there were two parts to this job: getting the role and then the actual acting. I’d sit out in some lobby for an audition with forty other kids, most of whom had their stage mothers running lines with them. I didn’t quite come from that same situation. Kids’ auditions were between 4:00 and 6:00 p.m., the same break my mom had between her jobs, and she would wait outside for me to finish and then race back to work.


In some auditions, I’d be awful. I couldn’t get outta my head, or I was embarrassed by all the people in the room. Or, worse, I didn’t have a single clue about how to approach the part. I hadn’t gotten much training yet, but I already knew there was no quarter given just because you’re twelve. My only goal was to convince the adults that I wasn’t gonna screw it up if they gave me the part—that I could handle it and do the work. The acting was secondary to that.


Somehow, the parts came anyway. And with parts, came checks. Terrific! Money to help the family. I just don’t wanna live that life anymore, I thought. We can do better than this. We should live like Aunt Estelle and Uncle Joe and Curly in San Bernardino. We should be normal.


And we were about to get our chance.


I’D LANDED RECURRING PARTS ON MY THREE SONS AND LEAVE IT to Beaver.


The work wasn’t steady enough to count on. But still, I threw money into the family pot whenever I could. For a day’s work, I’d bring home about $50 after the agency, the guild, and Uncle Sam took their cuts.


The biggest purchase of my life was, no surprise, a color TV.


Almost no one had a color set yet. My mom and sister and I used to go over to other people’s homes to watch color TV, and on Sunday night, we’d watch Bonanza, one of the few shows shot “in living color.” The NBC peacock would blossom brightly and fan vivid hues more vibrant than real life, giving way to a colored map of Nevada with Reno and Virginia City and the Ponderosa, and then the title Bonanza would explode into multicolored flame. It seems absurd to think of that as exciting today, but in 1959, when Bonanza started, the world shook. I know mine did.


Thirteen and determined, I borrowed money for my very own color TV: $50 down and then $5 each week. Acting roles or not, I could always get $5 a week for the required payments. I cleaned the lady’s house next door. I washed cars. I walked dogs. But not all my schemes were winners. In Yuma, while visiting Dad, I tried selling popcorn at a wrestling match at the sports arena he managed. The other guys were shouting, “Get your popcorn heeeere! Pop-pop-pop!” Instead, I approached people who looked nice and bashfully asked, “Would you like some popcorn?” By the end of the night, I somehow owed the arena money. Still, I never missed a TV payment. Although it cost $500 (over $5,000 today), I kept chipping away at it. Eventually it was mine.


This sucker was outrageously enormous, and we put it in our apartment living room where all three of us could watch.


Almost like in a real home.















All-American Boy



MY MOTHER DROPPED ME OFF, WISHED ME GOOD LUCK, AND THEN ran to the store to take care of errands. “I’ll be back in half an hour…”


I was fifteen. It was 1963 and this wasn’t just another audition. Many of the shows all my friends and I watched were made by two men: William Hanna and Joe Barbera. Other than maybe Walt Disney, Hanna-Barbera were, to us, the most influential people in the world. These two guys created Tom and Jerry, The Flintstones, Scooby-Doo, Where Are You!, Yogi Bear, and The Jetsons and were now casting a new show. While my chance of getting the part, as with most auditions, was slim to none—I’d never done work as a voice actor—that didn’t mean I wasn’t going to enjoy the next few hours.


Joe Barbera himself met me at the door. He was stocky with really big eyebrows and right away one of the most friendly adults I’d ever met. Mr. Barbera—“Joe,” he assured me—first showed me around the recording studio and then shared drawings of characters named Jonny and Hadji and various lizard men. These drawings looked different from anything else on TV and blew my mind; the characters looked and felt like the art I’d fallen in love with in comic books. Joe told me about the show, an idea they’d borrowed from a once-popular radio program called Jack Armstrong, the All-American Boy but couldn’t get the rights to. Then we recorded an audition, and Mom picked me up. Done.


This was the last I thought about Jonny Quest or Quest File or whatever it was going to be finally called. It was cool to see how they made cartoons, but it was also one of ten auditions I’d done that same week and, I assumed, one of the ten “no thanks” or “never heard backs” I’d get.


Three months later, Hanna-Barbera Productions was making Jonny Quest, and they had decided I was their Jonny. This was, to a sixteen-year-old, the most monumental thing that had yet happened in my life.




Film School Boot Camp


More than Acting—Acting Is Your Business


As my career grew and developed, I’d set my sights on larger and better agents, and I’d study and appraise how they worked for their clients. I was constantly scanning the horizon and investigating other agencies to see if I could do better. Today, you can simply punch in names on IMDb. But when I was coming up, I’d spend hours researching actors of my “type” whose work I admired or whose career path I wanted to emulate. I’d get this information from something called The Academy Players Directory. This was an annual big fat photo book where all actors were listed for casting directors to look at. It was where you (as an actor) annually posted your photos, agency contact, and category to remind the industry you were still working. This is how I chose the Wormser Agency when I was a kid. It was a proven place that cared about young beginning actors. It was a very effective smaller agency compared to the William Morris Agency, which was the king of all agencies at the time, or ICM (International Creative Management). Neither of them would even return my calls or represent a beginning actor.


Over my career, I have been represented at various times by Wormser, Creative Artists Agency, William Morris, Agency for the Performing Arts, Generate, Gersh, and several managers. While access to material is a factor, the most important thing is to choose as guides and representatives people whose belief in you is real and tangible. Someone—or a whole team of someones—honest and creative, willing to work hard for you, regardless of where they work.





Most everyone else cast for Jonny Quest was a Hall of Fame first-ballot voice pro—Don Messick (Astro, Scooby-Doo); Mel Blanc (Bugs Bunny, Daffy Duck, and fifty more); and June Foray (Rocky the Flying Squirrel, the Smurfs). Meanwhile, I was on my first-ever voice acting job.


I worked hard to make Jonny as real as I could. No corny stuff. Joe Barbera, who directed the episodes and handled the creative side of Hanna-Barbera, was always incredible with me. Patient. Encouraging. Always kept the recording sessions light and positive. My luck in this regard was immeasurable. And it only got better.


Only a teen, I still had to “go to school,” and whenever I did an episode of Jonny Quest, I was required to go into Hanna-Barbera three hours early to do my schoolwork with some fill-in teacher before recording: union rules.


(On other programs and movie sets, Mom would often take me the first day of production and find another kid with a mom to claim me. “Tell the teacher you’ve got Tim also,” she’d ask, and then head off to work. She’d always find somebody to say okay, and the schoolteachers were fine about it.)


Three hours of schoolwork? I’d always finish mine in maybe twenty minutes and spend the next two-plus hours wandering Hanna-Barbera studios. Carte blanche to sneak around and see all the other shows they were working on. I’d pester the animators while they worked on cels and then sit in while The Flintstones and The Magilla Gorilla Show teams did their recordings.


This is where I really first learned about the craft of acting. Watching Alan Reed (Fred Flintstone), June Foray (Betty Rubble), and Janet Waldo (Judy Jetson, Penelope Pitstop) became the advanced acting classes I hadn’t yet taken. Then there was Mel Blanc—Bugs Bunny, Porky Pig, Pepé Le Pew, Barney Rubble, and a hundred more. Mel could do a scene entirely by himself, playing two characters. He’d do a dog impression and then do another dog, even giving it a personality, different from any other dog he’d done before. I was still figuring out how to give Jonny Quest a personality, and this guy could do it for dozens of characters on the fly.


For Jonny Quest, all the actors would gather with script in hand in front of a bank of microphones before a glass window where Joe Barbera, who directed everything, and the technicians sat. We played it like a stage play or an old-school live radio recording. There was none of the “record the line twenty different ways and we’ll mix it all together later” stuff. I had to act in real time with the adults who I’d listened to each morning in my living room.


But they worked together in a way that I recognized as a sports team. Most of them had come out of an earlier career in radio plays. There was a rhythm I’d begun to hear: It wasn’t just waiting to get your own lines out. For the first time, I could see how actors worked off, and really listened to, each other.


Sometimes, Joe Barbera would ask me to play the voice of another part for a few lines, and I often had a hard time remembering what that other kid sounded like. Jonny Quest was me; that one was easy. Joe would just wave it off. “No problem,” he’d say. “Let’s just play it back.” I’d hear the other kid’s voice again and get back to work. It was a great education.


One day, with trembling voice, I even told Joe, “I’m gonna write an episode.”


Ninety-nine of a hundred producers would have laughed me out of the room.


“That’s great,” Joe said. “Bring it in, or pitch me a bunch of ideas. If we like any ideas, we’ll let you write one.” I wrote three episodes, and he couldn’t have been more gracious about my attempts or more helpful with revisions and suggestions.


If I was seeking parental guidance—and I no doubt was—the guy who’d given the world Tom and Jerry was a good start.
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BETWEEN ACTING GIGS, I TOOK MY MOTHER’S EXAMPLE AND FOUND other work where I could. In high school, I picked up cash working league nights at Grand Central Bowling Alley, where they paid guys to keep the scores by hand. (These days, a computer keeps track of the byzantine sorcery of spare and strike bonuses and the extra balls on the tenth, and so forth. Until the 1980s, bowlers did all this by hand or paid someone like me.) All my coworkers were the neighborhood drunks and drifters, but scoring two teams at the same time, you could pull in $10 in about four hours, which was twice the minimum wage—pretty good.


I had other jobs as well. A buddy of mine told me about a “shitty job” at the Los Angeles Times that could make me some easy money. Sign me up! For the next six months, I’d go to the Times at 2:00 a.m. on Sunday to assemble and stack the day’s newspapers and then help load them on the trucks for $20. Great money, but it killed your social life; it took hours to wash the black newsprint off your hands and you smelled like wet newspaper. I also flipped hamburgers at the Bel-Air Bay Club and fried the Colonel’s chicken.


Meanwhile, Jonny Quest paid $135 a show.


I knew which career I wanted to focus on.


STILL, I’D ALREADY LEARNED IT’S AN INDUSTRY DESIGNED TO KEEP you humble. (Sometimes it feels like this place, and everyone in it, is working 24-7 to get rid of you. To replace you, to forget you. To break you.)


I thought I was a big deal when they booked Mom and me into first class for a flight to Kansas City and a promotional appearance. There, a helicopter flew over the Midwestern plains to some shopping mall. I was, after all, the voice of Jonny Quest! And hundreds of people stood in line for hours to get my signature on these little Jonny Quest cards the studio had given us. Now I was in the role of my old TV pal Sheriff John. I grinned and signed my name and probably imagined a future with Hayley Mills. And hours later, when it was time to head back to my “private helicopter,” I noticed the white trash fluttering around the parking lot like snow caught in a winter wind. Dozens of little slips of paper.


Each one with my signature.
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I WAS DOING JONNY QUEST EPISODES AND A FEW COMMERCIALS here and there. But nobody at my high school really knew about any of it. Leave It to Beaver and My Three Sons were too “straight” or “square” for most high schoolers, so my episodes there went unnoticed. (Today, however, decades later, people still ask me to sign autographs as Jonny Quest—the biggest reward for that work and the power of syndication and nostalgia.) And even though I was absent a lot from school, none of my friends really watched any of those shows.


Teenagers are focused on their own trials, so I was not a celebrity by any stretch. Then I did a live Stridex acne-pad commercial on Shindig!, the popular musical variety series. This acne ad became my big claim to fame. Not performing with Mickey Rooney and Burl Ives and Mel Blanc…


Instead, my peers were saying, “You talked about zits on Shindig! That’s soooo cool!”


It was time to finally make my move on Janelle Penny, the prettiest girl in John Burroughs High School. She was the Little Red-Haired Girl to my Charlie Brown. The Roxane to my Cyrano. I wasn’t a varsity letterman or on the student council, so my angle was humor. I finally took my shot, as they say, with some clever lines. She laughed; her friends laughed. Things were looking up.


“You’re so funny and cute,” Janelle said. Then she added with painful sincerity, “If you were six feet tall, I’d go out with you.”


At the time, I was five foot three.


SINCE I WAS OFTEN AWAY SHOOTING COMMERCIALS, JONNY QUEST, or other TV episodes, nobody—especially me—ever really knew which social group I was in. Not with the Jocks (only lettering in varsity tennis), and not the academic or cool kids, either. Rather, I was the solo nerd who didn’t fit in anywhere. The summer between my junior and senior years became my toughest time in high school. Yet, I pulled off dating a girl named Nancy Montgomery—a girl who didn’t have height constraints—pretty steadily all summer. But I still didn’t have any moves. Nancy drew the line: “Nothing below the neck or above the knee” if I ever got too frisky.


During that same summer, I took some extension courses at UCLA to dig deeper into filmmaking. Of course, I was the smallest and youngest person attending the film editing and film history classes and I was the only high school student, a detail I kept to my myself.


But there, something totally new happened: a computer dating program called, I think, Operation Match. Nothing like it had ever existed before, because no one other than universities and IBM even had computers yet. (We were about to get the first peek at online dating apps!) I somehow believed this program might be a way to meet some cool young women with similar interests, and who knew where that could lead? College girls, I fancied, didn’t have the same “nothing below the neck or above the knee” rule. Yay, science!


Operation Match charged participants $3 for the service, and you had to fill out a ten-page, 135-question form about your interests (Folk Music, Rock & Roll, French language); personal information (race, religion, class in school); attitudes (Do you believe in a God who answers prayers? Is extensive sexual activity in preparation for marriage part of “growing up”?); absolutes (religious background; my date’s race should be X); and so forth. At this point, computers were still something from a sci-fi movie, but the idea that this computer could help you find your ideal soulmate was sure intriguing. I paid the $3 and took the application very seriously. Spent hours musing over my answers to get them just right. I must have redone it ten times to help these computers find my perfect match.


It took almost two weeks for the survey to be processed and the matches generated, but Results Day finally arrived. I went immediately to the office of the dating program to pick up my results rather than wait for them to be mailed out. The results came on an IBM computer primitive dot-matrix printout listing the names and telephone numbers of all your matches. These were placed in an envelope and handed over to me. I walked outside with exhilaration and anticipation. My perfect match!! I ran over to a grassy area under some trees for privacy and opened the envelope slowly.


Poor Nancy Montgomery, I thought, how will she take the news when I leave her for some anthropology major?


The contents were only two pages. Page one, a form letter describing the program, how many thousands of people had enrolled, how information was sorted and cross-referenced, and how then the computers matched up the participants. I read through the boilerplate leisurely, knowing my fate would be revealed on page two. Slowly I turned the page.


There were very few words on page two, and I was confused. I read on.




Participants: 20,000+ students


Females: 51%


Males: 49%


Matches to your profile: 0




ZERO?


Out of 10,000+ UCLA women, there were “0” who wanted to be with someone like me? I was shocked. Devastated. Heartsick. Humiliated. Now it was official—even a computer said so—I was a total loser.


I’d clearly die alone, and there was no way I’d ever—


Wait a second! I dashed back frantically to the dating program office and breathlessly asked to see my submission. The staff stared back at me in irritation. “Those aren’t here,” an older guy explained. “What’s the problem?”


“I think… I think…” I said, looking around wildly. “Do you have one of those forms? A blank one, even?”


The guy grunted and then toddled over to another desk. He finally brought over a blank submission form like I’d filled out before. “Knock yourself out, kid,” he said, and the woman next to him laughed as I scanned furiously.


I didn’t have to scan long. The first question asked the respondent what year of college he or she was in. I’d answered honestly: high school.


Idiot! An honest idiot, but still. And forever after, I convinced myself the IBM computers had hastily discounted the high schooler as a viable option for college girls. What other reason could there be?


MERCIFULLY, THERE WAS STILL NANCY MONTGOMERY AND OUR young steadfast love to count on. Of course, as senior year began, she dumped me for a varsity basketball star. (Maybe she’d suffered too many arthouse film dates beside me, or maybe she simply had a height requirement after all.)


I was crushed. And again alone.


MY ONLY TWO FRIENDS WERE STUDY PALS: DOROTHY TANOUS AND Cliff Bochstaller. We’d meet up at Dorothy’s house on many nights, musing about deep subjects—life, death, philosophy, why IBM hates high schoolers. Of course, we also studied for our school quizzes and finals.


Dorothy’s parents would always gather everyone in the evening to cook dinner together. I’d never done anything like this in my own home, so it was a fantastic experience and one that I’d only thought existed in my aunt and uncle’s home in San Bernardino. Also, because her parents were both artists and “intellectuals,” this was the only family I knew that had no televisions. In their entire house. Nowhere. I couldn’t believe this. Instead of watching TV every night, the Tanous family would cook together and have discussions about the news, art, and literature.


When I first met Dorothy’s dad, he looked familiar. I’d definitely seen him somewhere before but couldn’t—despite all the hours and dinners at her house—figure out where. Once I felt comfortable enough with the family, I mentioned this one night at dinner.


Mr. Tanous smiled and the whole table seemed amused. “I think I know where you’ve seen me before.” Her dad, I already knew, had worked at Walt Disney Studios for many years as an animation artist. “We always based our cartoon characters on real-life models or people,” he explained.


Slowly his face became a little more familiar, but I still couldn’t place him. “Which character?” I asked carefully.


“Ha-ha-ha! You wouldn’t dare fight old Hook…’” he said, and grinned playfully.


That was it! Dorothy’s dad, Henry Tanous, was Captain Hook from Peter Pan. My God, I was having dinner with the pirate captain of the notorious Jolly Roger.


This, at times, really was life in Hollywood.
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SANS NANCY MONTGOMERY OR HEIGHT-SNOB JANELLE PENNY OR any wistful UCLA English majors, I’d landed a commercial and now had a crush on the actress cast opposite me. The scene was a picnic with this cute girl alongside the Hollywood Reservoir in the Hills. Still terminally shy, I didn’t have the guts or know-how to make my interests known. There was, I assumed, a pretty good chance I’d screw up the 135-point questionnaire, or she’d tell me I needed to be taller.


Not an issue for the adults on the scene that afternoon. The lecherous director—and all the agency people—kept hitting on this girl. She was seventeen. The director incessantly rubbing her shoulders and joking with her, calling her “baby” and “darling” and “hot stuff.” He called me “you.”


Raised in a house full of women, I was constitutionally uncomfortable with how she was being treated. It was all unsettling. I was taken aback by this smarmy guy and disappointed by my own weakness; I wanted to say something, but I didn’t dare. And for the first time ever, I couldn’t remember my fucking lines.


We had to do take after take. The director would groan and she’d giggle. I’d somehow driven them closer together. The entire shoot was a nightmare.


But my big takeaway had nothing to do with flirting first or better. Or how creepy Hollywood can be. Rather, I vowed that I would never get distracted from a job like that ever again. Anything that sidetracks you from the work is not your friend. Doing a job well meant more jobs and more money; I couldn’t allow stuff to upset the apple cart. My family had begun to feel normal, and I couldn’t mess that up.


The second insight was that I was going to speak up next time. Whatever the next offense, I would need to be braver and to protest. In Hollywood, you don’t have to wait long for such an opportunity.


MONTHS LATER, DOING AN EPISODE ON THE SHOW ROOM 222, I’D landed a great part playing a kid whose parents had run off—something I could certainly work with—and this kid was living by himself, pretending he still had a family. Lots for me to work with, actually. And lots of lines and a great character—but I could never find a way to connect to it like I should have.


“Next time,” the director told me afterward, “maybe, you know, we’ll just give you a smaller part.”


Ouch. Brutal. It hurt so bad that by the time I got home, I was no longer the same kid from the lake. I picked up the phone and called the director.


“That was really painful to hear you say that,” I told him, voice shaking. “I gave you my all. You can’t talk to actors like that.” I wasn’t sure at all whether this was true, but at sixteen, it made sense. “If you didn’t like it,” I told him, “you could have directed me more.”


“I’m sorry,” he said.


I wasn’t sure where to go next with that. I’d assumed he’d tell me to quit acting or pound sand or something.


“Well, okay… Thanks, Mr. Becker,” I said. “Bye.”


Achievement unlocked. Young Tim had stood up for himself in Hollywood. An essential ability, I’d confirm a hundred times over, for any career in entertainment lasting more than four months.


Not a year later, I was screen-testing for a planned Hardy Boys series and sat waiting for hours behind all the other guys—Jeff Bridges was there; Jan-Michael Vincent (of Airwolf). Everyone was trying out. It was getting late when I overheard the casting agent say to the director, “Yeah, we’re done here.” They had completely forgotten about me or had already made their decision. Both reasons pissed me off. “Excuse me,” I said, marching straight up to them. “I haven’t tested yet.… My name’s Tim Matthieson.” They stared at me. “I’m Joe Hardy,” I clarified. The director smiled and they gave me a “sure, sure.”


An hour later, I was Joe Hardy.
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I WENT TO VISIT MY FATHER WHO’D GRADUATED FROM YUMA TO Phoenix. I wanted to share the good news of Joe Hardy and all I’d been working for. I guess part of me wanted to show him all of the things I was doing that I thought he should be doing—taking care of my mom, my sister, and me. I was eating cereal alone when he padded into the small kitchen. He was groggy, still in his underwear and a tank top. He grunted hello, filled a cup with warm water from the tap, dumped in a couple spoonfuls of instant coffee, stirred, and then took a big sip. He sighed deeply, smiled, and slogged back out of the room.


His greatest joy in life was this sip of shitty coffee. He was content with that—worse, happy about it. For the first time ever, even though I loved my father, I felt sad for him. He seemed… somewhat tragic to me.


Shallow of me, perhaps. But it’s how I felt.


My mother had come out of the Depression a fighter, willing to work 24-7 to never face that world again, to never let others dictate her life. He’d come out a victim, shrugging with a “What can you do?” attitude that blamed life or the world for his problems and accepted his lot in life.


I couldn’t wait to get back to L.A.
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MY MUCH-NEEDED CONFIDENCE WAS CLEARLY GROWING, A FEW commercials were coming in, and now Hanna-Barbera had asked me to record new characters for both Sinbad Jr. and His Magic Belt and Space Ghost—two new syndicated shows the company sold to local UHF channels. The money plan was working. I was now a senior in high school making $10,000 to $14,000 a year (over $120,000 a year today), very real money. My mother and sister had begun leaning on me to support the family. Finally, I cracked. “You can’t rely on me so much!” I said. “There’s some things I wanna do with this money. I’m not the father here!” I wanted to buy scuba gear and a car I could drive up to San Francisco whenever I wanted. I wanted money for college and more-serious acting lessons. I wanted some savings as a cushion for the next time I didn’t get the job. I wanted freedom. The burden of having to be the “dad” was too much.


Unbeknownst to my mother, I’d rented my own tiny space in Manhattan Beach, about an hour’s drive from where we lived.


One day after I graduated from high school, I moved out.
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IT WOULD BE DRAMATIC TO END THE CHAPTER WITH THAT LINE about my tiny little apartment, but the truth is, just a few months later, I bought a house in Van Nuys with all my savings. It had two bedrooms with a den and a pool. I’d bought it so my sister and mom could live there with me, and they stayed with me until I got married.


Also, I’d sprung to six foot two by the end of my freshman year of college.


Janelle Penny got a phone call; she was interested now.
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